1	KINGSTON PLANNING BOARD
2 3 4	JANUARY 3, 2023 PUBLIC HEARING/MEETING MINUTES
5 6 7	Mr. Coppelman called the meeting to order at <b>6:35 PM</b> ; there were no challenges to the legality of the meeting.
8 9 10 11	MEMBERS PRESENT: Glenn Coppelman, Acting Chair Peter Coffin Chris Bashaw, BOS Representative Robin Duguay Peter Bakie
12 13 14 15 16	ALSO PRESENT: Glenn Greenwood, Town Planner Robin Carter, Admin. Assistant
17 18 19 20	ABSENT: Lynne Merrill, Chair Steve Padfield
21 22 23 24	Mr. Coppelman opened by explaining that this is a work business meeting for the Board, but there are a number of zoning articles and citizen petitioned warrant articles to have public hearings on, this is public hearing night also.
25 26 27	Mr. Coppelman declared a quorum present and introduced the Planning Board ("PB" or "Board").
28 29 30	Mr. Greenwood, Town Planner arrived during the introductions. Mr. Coppelman mentioned that they are expecting one more Board member, Robin Duguay.
31 32 33 34	Public Hearing for Proposed and Citizen Petitioned Warrant Articles: <board 6:40="" at="" began="" hearing="" note:="" pm.="" this=""></board>
35 36 37	Mr. Coppelman announced that we have public hearings tonight for zoning amendments that have been proposed by this Board and three (3) citizen petitions that have come in, and the Board will do their duty tonight to hold a public hearing on those.
38 39 40 41	Mr. Coppelman explained the process, there are two (2) zoning amendments, one (1) that has multiple parts to it. It is the enforcement section of the ordinance which is being revamped.
42 43	Mr. Coppelman asked Mr. Greenwood to explain the newly proposed <b>Article A – 1000</b> .

## Article A – 1000: AMENDMENTS, CONFLICTS AND PENALTIES, ADMINISTRATION, ENFORCEMENT, and SEVERABILITY.

Mr. Greenwood explained that over the past couple of years when Town Counsel has been asked to assist the Town with enforcement issues to resolve zoning conflicts, Counsel said that our Addendum on enforcement procedures did not provide enough information regarding the proper way in the state law to pursue zoning violations. Mr. Greenwood drafted a first draft at making the amendments to the present ordinance and submitted it to Town Counsel. She had several things she wanted to be added to ensure that when they did the process that they would have the support necessary. There is also a number of areas in the ordinance that will now reference this section. <*Board note:* Robin Duguay arrived at 6:37 PM.> When people read through parts of the ordinance and want to know about penalties or how it is enforced they will refer to this. Town Counsel did advise there were two areas that shouldn't be a part of this ordinance that are really Selectman's ordinances and not reflective of the zoning provision. Mr. Greenwood did revise the first draft based on Town Counsel's input, and that is what is being presented tonight.

Mr. Coppelman asked if there are two (2) issues to review. One is to present the new Article A -1000, and the other is the Board needs to go through the various sections that refer to the new Article A – 1000. Mr. Greenwood, replied correct, there will be amends made to the eleven (11) areas. Mr. Coppelman explained when we review the eleven (11) articles he will read the proposed changes and asked Mr. Greenwood if they had to be voted on individually. Mr. Greenwood said they would go through as one question. This will either pass or fail. Mr. Coppelman asked Mr. Greenwood's recommendation on the reading of the Article A – 1000. Mr. Greenwood felt it wasn't necessary to read, the post has been made available. It is a fairly long article. The changes that Town Counsel asked to be made are really to just make it clear that when they were going through injunctive that we actually spoke to process. The changes were very specific and are outlined in her memo dated December 12, 2022 to the Kingston Planning Board.

Mr. Bashaw brought up that it is important for people know that we specifically wanted the Town's Legal Counsel to have an input on this. They essentially would be the people that would have to enforce the Town's rules. That way we weren't just crafting and replacing something else that was ineffective.

Mr. Coppelman asked if the Board if they had any questions on what was just described and if everyone was comfortable. There were no questions from the Board. Mr. Coppelman opened public comment at 6:47 PM. The audience did not have any questions. Mr. Coppelman said the public hearing is still open so the Board can still address any questions that might come up until the Board takes the vote. He explained the vote from the Board would be to either move this to the Warrant in March or not.

Mr. Coppelman explained he is not going to read the current language, he is going to read the proposed new language.

KPB/rc 01/03/2023 Accepted as amended 02/07/2023 (see last page of these minutes for details)

- For the new proposed language see Article A 1000 Amendments, Conflicts and Penalties, Administration, Enforcement, and Severability (dated 12/14/2022)
  - Article 107 Industrial Zone 107.8 Separability. The change to this language is -Please refer to Section A – 1000.004 of this ordinance.
  - Article 205 Shoreland Protection Ordinance 205.10.B. Enforcement. The change to this language is Please refer to Section A 1000.003.002 of this ordinance.
  - Article 209 Groundwater Management Zone 209.5 Enforcement. The change to this language is Please refer to Section A 1000.003.002 of this ordinance.
  - Article 302 Outdoor Lighting 302.9 Violations, Legal Actions, and Penalties. The change to this language is Please refer to Section A 1000.002.002 of this ordinance.
  - Article 303 Sign Ordinance 303.3.E. Validity and Severability. The change to this language is Please refer to Section A 1000.004 of this ordinance.
  - Article 402 Campground Ordinance 402.2 Declaration. The change to this language is Please refer to Section A 1000.004 of this ordinance.
  - Article 402 Campground Ordinance 402.3 Violation. The change to this language is Please refer to Section A 1000.002.002 of this ordinance.
  - Article 408 Any Loud, Unusual, or Other Unnecessary Noise Ordinance 408.2
     Penalty. The change to this language is Please refer to Section A 1000.002.002 of this ordinance.
  - Article 409 Sewage Sludge and Residential Septage Application Ordinance 409.13 Enforcement Procedures. The change to this language is - Please refer to Section A – 1000.003.002 of this ordinance.
  - Article 409 Sewage Sludge and Residential Septage 409.14 Penalties and Violations. The change to this language is - Please refer to Section A – 1000.002.002 of this ordinance.
  - Article 409 Sewage Sludge and Residential Septage Application Ordinance 409.15 Saving Clause. The change to this language is – Please refer to Section A – 1000.004 of this ordinance.
  - Article 415 Small Wind Energy Systems 415.8 Penalties. The change to this language is Please refer to Section A 1000.002.002 of this ordinance.
  - Mr. Coppelman asked if there were any questions from the Board. Mr. Greenwood commented that all the changes made subsequent to each of these individual ordinances are really just bookkeeping so you can go to the right place that applies.
- Mr. Coffin asked if there were any other ordinances that fell under this. Mr. Greenwood said there is not.
- 131 Mr. Coppelman brought up the Home Occupation Ordinance (Article 207.4) New 132 Enforcement section saying that was addressed at a prior meeting.
- Mr. Coppelman asked if the audience had any questions. There was none. The public comment session was closed at 6:52 PM.

94

95

96

97

98

99

100

101

102

103

104

105

106

107

108

109

110

111

112

113

114

115

116117

118

119

120

121

122123

124

125

126127

130

Motion made by Mr. Coffin to move Article A – 1000 and all the necessary changes referenced in the Article to ballot in March. Seconded by, Ms. Duguay. A vote was taken, all were in favor, the motion passed (5-0-0).

Mr. Coppelman mentioned that for the record there are five (5) voting members tonight.

The Board discussed how to present this on the ballot. This will be presented on the ballot as it was done last year. There was a short description and the full language was posted. Mr. Coppelman said unless the Board wants to do it differently, this is the way it will be done.

# Article 206 Accessory Dwelling Units – Section 206.4.J. ADU Requirements <Board note: This began at 6:52 PM.>

Mr. Coppelman explained this Article remains, but there is a new proposed line at the end of it. Mr. Coppelman read the new proposed language. "In determining if the existing system is functioning properly an inspection report on the system prepared by a licensed NH septic system inspector will be provided to the Planning Board." This language will be replacing, "If deemed necessary by the Health Officer, evidence shall be provided in the form of certification by a State of NH licensed septic system designer."

Mr. Greenwood commented, it is the inspector who would inspect a septic system, not a designer. Mr. Coffin made a comment that the inspection would take the determination of the condition of an existing septic system away from the Health Officer and the report from the licensed inspector would provide the evidence to the Health Officer.

Mr. Coppelman asked if there were any questions from the Board. There were none. Mr. Coppelman opened public comments at 6:54 PM, there were none. Public comments closed at 6:54 PM.

Motion made by Mr. Coffin to move Section 206.4.J. ADU Requirements changes as read to the March warrant. Seconded by, Ms. Duguay. A vote was taken, all were in favor, the motion passed (5-0-0).

Mr. Coppelman explained that the next three (3) proposed zoning changes came to the Board by the Citizen Petitioned process of our RSAs. The Planning Board's responsibility is to hold a public hearing and at the end of each one, take a vote to either approve or disapprove of the proposal. The approve or disapprove language appears under the wording on the ballot and that is per RSA 675:4 III., "A notation on the ballot stating the planning board's approval or disapproval shall immediately follow the question's description."

Mr. Coppelman mentioned the author of the three (3) of the Citizen Petitioned articles is sitting here and asked Mr. Bashaw if he planned on sitting at the table for the **Board** 

<Board note: This ended at 6:54 PM.>

discussion. Mr. Bashaw replied, he is, the reason for that it is one of the few times even as a Planning Board member you get to use your opinion. This is one of the few times you can conduct your business based off of personal opinion. He mentioned he would also argue that that even if anyone signed a petition they wouldn't be forced to recuse themselves from the discussion as a Planning Board member for a citizen petitioned warrant article. Mr. Coppelman said he sees it slightly different because Mr. Bashaw is the author of the petition as opposed to signing it. He wanted to make sure this was on the record.

Mr. Bashaw said he authored the articles because he was approached by citizens that wanted to go forward with them and he offered to help them because he agreed with the content of them. Mr. Coppelman mentioned that Mr. Bashaw promoted them and got the signatures for them. Mr. Bashaw replied, yes. Mr. Coppelman said you actively participated. Mr. Bashaw said yes. Mr. Bashaw explained that this is one of the few times where he thinks you can engage in this as a Board member and use your personal opinion. Mr. Coppelman brought up again he wanted to make sure this was out on the table. Mr. Coppelman asked the Board if anyone else had questions on this. Mr. Coffin asked if Mr. Bashaw would also be voting as a Select Board (BOS) member. Mr. Bashaw questioned if the BOS even vote on these, and that he doesn't believe they do. Mr. Coppelman said just the Planning Board does. He explained that the Select Board does have a role and that when the Citizen Petition comes in to the BOS, they are supposed to make sure the wording is correct, signatures are valid before passing them on to the Planning Board. Mr. Coppelman said he assumes since the PB has them that this action did take place. Mr. Bashaw said, yes, these were initially turned in to the Town Clerk who verified the voters for the BOS.

Mr. Bashaw explained the reason there are two (2) articles that have similar language is because one of the Select Board members called the Department of Revenue Administration (DRA) about the language, the one that has more signatures on it building article, and he got advice that it could potentially be illegal because it eliminates a permit for this type of item. Mr. Bashaw said he called the DRA thirty (30) minutes later and got a conflicting opinion, they didn't feel that it was an inappropriate or illegal article. Mr. Coppelman asked if this meant both of the building articles would appear on the ballot. Mr. Bashaw said as of right now they are still awaiting a response from the NH Municipal Association (NHMA). Susan Ayers, Select Board Administrator, reached out to them today to see if their legal department could give an offer. The intention would be if the first one that was generated was found to be valid and legal should it pass, that this one would be left and withdraw the other one if possible. If not, there is the potential that they could both end up on the ballot. The second article was written as a back-up article.

Ms. Duguay brought up that Mr. Bakie signed them, and that authoring them may not necessarily put you in a position to recuse yourself but signing may. Mr. Bashaw said, his opinion is that it would not in either situation.

Mr. Coppelman reviewed the three (3) Citizen Petitioned Warrant Articles

First article: Section 300 – Building
Article 301 – Buildings and Building lots

230231

232

Mr. Coppelman said that according to the Town BOS, Administrator there were 59 total signatures for this petition. The PB was provided with the first page of it, so we do not see all the signatures. They only needed 25 signatures and there are 59.

233234235

236

Mr. Coppelman explained that this is to see if the Town will vote to add the following language to the town ordinances for Section 300 - Building, Article 301 - Buildings and Building lots.

237238239

Mr. Coppelman read the language.

240241

242

243

244

245

246

"For non-occupied structures such as a sheds or carports, that are 168 sq. feet or less, with a height of less than 12 feet, and are not placed on a permanent foundation, no permit is required. Additionally, it may be placed on the side or rear yards no less than 5 feet from the property line. The structure would still have to meet the required front yard setback for the applicable zoning district. The structure may still be subject to a safety inspection by the code enforcement officer."

247248249

250

251

252253

254

255

256257

258

259 260

261

262

263264

265266

267

268269

270

271272

273

Mr. Coppelman mentioned this is a public hearing and said ask the Board if they had any comments. Board comments: Mr. Bashaw said that the intention of this was there were a lot of people who purchased prefabricated sheds and are seeking relief from the 20 foot setback requirements that is required for all boundary sides. He said, the issue the Town has had over the years is a lot of other ordinances are either poorly written, or have been unenforceable, or had conflicting definition over the years, there's loopholes. The more restrictive and overbearing on smaller items, you are going to find people exploiting loopholes. An example is they can't have a small shed where they park their lawn mower and stuff where they have to go through the Zoning Board of Adjustment (ZBA), but they can park their 53' tractor trailer right on their property line with no separation, and there is nothing that can be done to prevent that from being done. Initially this came to him by people who lived in some of the more compact areas. Such as the seasonal residences that have become permanent year-round residences over the years. Some of them ran into situations where they have a small yard if they wanted a shed and it would have to be in the middle of their yard. He also had people approach him that have larger properties that want to be able to put a shed on the edge of their property. One of the reasons is if you are going to be forced to put a shed 20' in, and if his neighbor decided to put something on their property line they don't like, it's really on him that he chose to look at it, he could have chosen to have buffers, barriers fences if he didn't want to see it. He explained that what is going to happen is you are going to have someone put a shed 20' in and they are going to use the 20' behind the shed to pile up all the stuff they don't want to look at. It is probably going to be more of a burden and eye sore for the neighbors to see. This proposed article is an opportunity to get relief from the 20' setback. He has researched and there are many communities in the State of NH and some that allow no setbacks for sheds under a certain amount of

square footage. He saw some from 200 sq. ft. or less, or 100 sq. ft. or less, that don't require permits and don't require setbacks. The reason he came up with the 168 sq. ft. number is from speaking with shed companies that make prefabricated sheds, one of the most popular sizes now seems to be a 12'x14'. These would be non-occupied structures and nonpermanent foundations; it isn't for people to pour concrete foundations right on the property line.

279280281

282

283

284

274

275

276277

278

Mr. Bashaw explained the difference between this article and the next one that will be looked at is, the next one doesn't reference, no permit being required. Part of the reason for no permit being required is because there is no building code that covers and specifies sheds. This was confirmed with the Town's Code Enforcement Officer. All it can be subject to is general safety inspections.

285286287

288

289 290

291

292 293

294

295

296

297

298 299

300

301

302

303

304

305 306

307

308

309

310

311312

313

314 315

316

317318

319

Mr. Coppelman asked if there were questions from the Board. Mr. Coffin mentioned that the 12'x14' is the size of a single car garage. A garage usually has a foundation, but could have concrete blocks and a gravel floor. Mr. Bashaw said because it is a non-occupied structure, he would think there are a lot less restrictions. Mr. Bashaw said if you are going to pour footings that is part of a permanent foundation. Mr. Coffin said that concrete blocks would not be a permanent foundation, they would be sitting on the ground. So the neighbor could have a garage sitting on their property line. The reason he brings this up is because there are a number of people who put sheds right on the property line, particularly, in the Great Pond area. Mr. Bashaw said he understand this, but he will always advocate for the individual use of property rights for the person paying the tax bill. Mr. Bakie mentioned he signed the petition, and commented that he looks at it like it's a way of possibly making their lot look better. You can put everything inside a shed vs piling everything up and putting a tarp on top of it. Mr. Coffin said that the argument of shed, no shed is its location. Mr. Bakie gave an example if you have a quarter acre lot with a house, a garage, and a driveway on it, you don't have many places you could put shed and that's why you'd have to put it closer to the property line. Mr. Coppelman brought up that this isn't limiting it to small lots and that is the issue he has and it would be Town wide and for the most part we have pretty large lots in Town with plenty of room, and in most cases be able to put what you need and keep the 20' setback. He understands the area that it was written for. It's tight, but he also sees the point where there is relief for this and gives abutters a chance to weigh in. Mr. Bashaw said when he started looking into the larger lots, for people who may want to use all of their lot. For people who have large lots, a lot of them aren't developed because it is more cost effective for a builder to build and use the space for the area near the building envelope and clear the least amount of space as possible. While some people may have a two (2) or three (3) acre lot they may only have a half an acre cleared because it is more cost effective. Ms. Duguay asked if there was a number limit for the temporary structures/sheds. Mr. Coppelman paused the discussion and clarified for the Board and the audience that the PB is holding the public hearing and that they do not have the opportunity to make any changes to the citizen petitions. Mr. Bashaw replied that it never came up in any of the discussion he had. Mr. Coffin said the answer would be, as written, no. Ms. Duguay mentioned that would be a concern, that this would give permission to have multiple temporary structures. Mr. Bashaw said that is what he found, because there are so many other loopholes that somebody could line their

property with tractor trailers and there is nothing he could do to stop them from doing this. Mr. Coffin brought up that there is a rule on gross weight. Mr. Bashaw said it is only for home occupied business. Mr. Coppelman explained he understands the whole property rights thing, but the setbacks are there for a reason. He could have supported perhaps something less than 20', but five 5' is going a bit too far in the other direction. Mr. Coffin said there is nothing that says they couldn't build a full size garage. Mr. Coffin said people may want their property rights the way they want, but the neighboring property may not want their rights encroached on. Mr. Bashaw explained they could maintain a 20' buffer of vegetation if they wanted.

Mr. Coppelman opened the hearing up for public comments at 7:25 PM. Public comments: Susan Prescott of 46 Little River Road, Kingston came to the table. She had a couple of questions on occupied structures. Could a chicken coop be occupied by chickens? Mr. Bashaw replied, occupied relates to human occupied. Ms. Prescott said so a chicken coop, dog house, goat barn anything like that could be involved. She asked if this would apply to gazeebos. Mr. Coppelman said yes. She asked if there was a number limit on gazeebos, dog houses or sheds. Mr. Bashaw and Mr. Bakie said there currently isn't a limit now. Mr. Coffin commented as long as it meets the 20' setback. Mr. Coppelman said correct, and added as long as is it meets the height and square foot restrictions. She said these are her concerns. Mr. Bashaw brought up that depending on how they are constructed, he doesn't know if dog houses and chicken coops meet the definition of a current structure that require a permit. Ms. Prescott said that she is on the Historic District Commission (HDC) and when she has spoken to Robert Steward (the former building inspector) about a shed issue months and months ago, that a shed, a Home Depot shed, a premade shed, etc., he told her that because it is defined as a structure would need a building permit. Mr. Bashaw said that a shed is specifically described as a structure and, therefore, needs a building permit. Mr. Bakie mentioned that he thought there is a size requirement to need a permit. Mr. Greenwood and Mr. Coppelman weren't aware of that. Mr. Bashaw mentioned he was asked about it in the past and did look it up wasn't able to find anything that there was one in the past.

Virginia Morse of 188 Main Street came to the table. Ms. Morse asked Mr. Bakie to go over again what he said, she couldn't hear it all. Mr. Bakie said he asked if there was an ordinance in the past in the Town that referenced a small shed. You could go prior to a Home Depot or Lowes and build a small shed, maybe a small green house that was a certain square footage. He said his comment was he was asking if there was one in the past. Ms. Morse said her comment is there is relief for people who did not have the space for a 20 foot setback. There is relief for a piece of property, your shed has to be built on your front lawn then there is a way to get relief and go the ZBA and show your property. She said, for someone who has a difficult piece of property, they have a way to solve their problem, and, therefore, is not in favor of this.

Mr. Coppelman closed public comment at 7:20 PM.

There was no further discussion from the Board.

Second article:

367 368

369

370

371 372

373 374

375

376 377

378 379 380

381

382 383

384 385

386 387

388 389

390 391

392 393

394 395

397 398 399

396

400 401

402

403

404

405 406 407

408

Motion made by Mr. Coffin to disapprove on the Warrant ballot the proposed Petitioned Warrant Article to be added to Section 300 Building, Article 301 Buildings and Building lots. Seconded by, Mr. Coppelman. A vote was taken, three (3) in favor, Mr. Bashaw and Mr. Bakie opposed, no abstentions, the motion passed (3-2-0).

Section 300 - Building

Article 301 - Buildings and Building lots

Mr. Coppelman explained that this Petitioned Warrant Article was the same as the previous one, except it does not include, "no permit is required".

"For non-occupied structures such as a sheds or similar structures that are 168 sq. feet or less, with a height of no more than 12 feet, and are not placed on a permanent foundation, it may be placed on the side or rear yards no less than 5 feet from the property line. The structure would still have to meet the required front vard setback for the applicable zoning district."

Mr. Coppelman asked the Board if they had any comment. There was none. He opened for public comment 7:22 PM, there was none. Closed public comment at 7:22 PM.

Motion made by Mr. Coffin to disapprove on the Warrant ballot the second proposed Petitioned Warrant Article to be added to Section 300 Building, Article 301 Buildings and Building lots. Seconded by, Ms. Duguay. A vote was taken, three (3) in favor, Mr. Bashaw and Mr. Bakie opposed, no abstentions, the motion passed (3-2-0).

Third article: Section 100 – Zoning Districts Article 102 – Historic District, 102.9 - Guidelines

<Board note: This began at 7:24 PM.>

Mr. Coppelman said this is regarding a change to the Historic District Commission (HDC) section of the zoning. Twenty-five registered voters are required to get this on to the Hearing, there were 37 signatures.

Mr. Coppelman read the article:

"When making a determination on the application, reasons for denial of an application must be clearly documented and shall be factual and verifiable reasons for denial. Reasons for denial shall not be subjective or based on opinion or speculation. If the Historic District Commission or parties at the HDC application level other than the applicant requires expert testimony or documentation to support the denial, they cannot require the applicant be responsible for the generation or costs associated with such support of denial.

This shall not prohibit the Historic District Commission from making additional recommendations to an applicant that are in the spirit of the Historic District asking for voluntary compliance or participation."

**Board comments:** Mr. Bashaw said that the people he spoke with initially wanted to register a petition to start the statutory process to completely dissolve the HDC. Mr. Bashaw explained to them that he didn't think it would be effective way. The people felt that some of the decisions in the language in the articles are subjective references property values, diminishing property values, and if the HDC makes a decision based off of this comment, that its near impossible to verify this and mere speculation. They wanted some language that shored up the protection for people that bear the cost of maintaining the historic district. He did explain to the people that it may not get a lot of traction because there are only so many people who are subjected to the HD, and all the other citizens of Town who get to enjoy it aren't really burdened by the restrictions that are put on it. They decided not to pursue the idea of dissolving the HDC and came up with the language in the proposed citizen petition article that might offer some protection to the citizens in the historic district.

Mr. Coppelman said that he is on the HDC and is the Planning Board rep from the HDC and is going to hold his comments at this time.

 Mr. Coffin explained that HDC started as a land use board and protects the laws of governing property values. If a professional provides an opinion, such as a real estate agent, and affects the property value, the board does take that into consideration. This is a long-standing procedure. The ZBA and PB do this, applicants have to attempt to make a case and provide the special opinion, and the boards have to respect this. A lot of what the PB does is opinion that are regulated by state law. We have a rule that an ADU has to look like a residence. This is why it was moved from the building inspector to the ZBA, and now the PB. He said he doesn't believe the article would stand legal challenge.

Mr. Bashaw said it doesn't prevent the HDC from seeking their own legal counsel. It offers protection if they want to get an expert voice, this prohibits them from forcing it. An applicant can decide to hire their own, but the HDC could not force them to. The HDC would be responsible for hiring someone if they wanted further opinion. This is to make sure they can't downshift that cost to an applicant.

Ms. Duguay asked if this has happened before? Has the HDC asked the applicant to pay the cost for this service in the past?

Mr. Bashaw said he does not live in the HDC and that this information is coming from the people that he spoke with that had the frustration.

Mr. Coppelman answered Ms. Duguay's question, and said to the best of his knowledge, no.

Ms. Duguay referenced the first two sentences and asked the question because she wanted to know if this was a pattern or not and wanted to understand the process.

Mr. Coffin said that for the PB, an applicant may want to hire a professional to have that information available because the applicant is trying to enable to Board to make a decision. The PB charges a fee for the bond to retain professional services.

Mr. Bashaw said he doesn't believe that the intention was to prevent these types of things. That's why it specifically talked about subjective items.

 Mr. Coffin brought up, is this a solution in search of a problem. If there are specific examples of where people are denied something that would be helpful. The HDC has pretty good guidelines set up. He's wondering if this is a problem we have and the HDC is constantly denying things.

Mr. Bashaw said he cannot personally speak to these things. The general consensus he got was there is a feeling of overwhelming frustration that the people living in the HD are being beholding to rules and opinion forced upon them. Often times by people that may sit on boards that don't live there themselves and don't have to follow the same rules. Other than completely dissolving the HDC, they wanted to try and come up with some kind of protection for them.

Mr. Coffin said that people buy into a certain area and know the description of the zoning. One approach may not work, but another might. The HDC is good with working with applicants to help them meet their needs.

Ms. Duguay asked what the process for an appeal to a determination is. Mr. Coffin said there is one, they can go to the ZBA.

Mr. Coppelman said that as with any board decision within a town, there's always a relief, and often times there's an option for secondary relief to go a step further.

Mr. Greenwood provided his comments. As he was reading through the citizen petition, he said he isn't sure what process is taken by the HDC because he doesn't go to the meetings. It's interesting that this particular citizen petition is saying whatever specialist the applicant wants to provided and pay for is fine. And if there is additional expert testimony that is required that the applicant pay for that as well. He believes that this concept is true legally in the State of NH. The PB is the sole land use board that can make an applicant pay for their own study, but a third party study on behalf of the Board. He doesn't see that the HDC is granted that same ability. In the case of the PB it is often that if a wetland scientist presents information the Board is not comfortable with, they can go to a wetland scientist and can actually make an applicant pay for that as well. That ability is reserved to the PB the way he reads state law. There's a lot of instances that enable legislation where the planning function that allow similar things and are under land use boards, but this is not one of them. The third-party additional review is only for planning. He believes that this position is only verifying what state law already says.

Mr. Coffin gave an example of the conditional use permit for a gas station in the aquifer protection zone and what was required of the applicant. Mr. Bashaw said that is a PB regulation. Mr. Coffin said that was ZBA and the conditional use application did not go to the PB. Mr. Greenwood commented that the ordinance allows another land use board that power. He said that required a public vote and that is what the Town's people vote in as an appropriate action. That is not what is being addressed in the citizen petition. The statute says that a third party is allowed for the planning board. Mr. Greenwood and Mr. Coppelman mentioned they didn't see it under the HDC section or any other land use boards. This could be perceived as a double expenditure. He only sees it authorized in state law by the planning board. Mr. Greenwood isn't saying the HDC does do this, but if they do he would suggest getting input from Town Counsel. He said the damage he sees from this language is the first two lines are very accusatory. Saying a decision by a board is subjective when the requirements of the board go directly to the appearance. He feels what is being said in the second part of the article is a reiteration of state law.

Mr. Coffin said the first part of the sentence is fine, but unnecessary.

Mr. Coppelman asked if there were any other questions from the Board. There was none. Opened for public comment at 7:43 PM.

**Public comments:** Susan Prescott shared her comments. Ms. Prescott said that she does agree that the first two lines are accusatory. She referred to the guidelines under Article 102.9.

"In considering appropriateness of an application, the Commission shall consider, among other things: A. The effect that the exterior facade of the building will have when viewed in relation to the surrounding buildings in the district." She said this is subjective. They look at the proposal and look at what affect will that have in the neighborhood.

(Title I: Ordinances Section 100 - Zoning Districts Article 102-Historic District Historic District 102-6 B.) *She went on to read:* The change, if any, in the amount of noise, congestion and traffic that the proposed building or use will create in the district. C. Whether the proposal is of a design, or of materials, or for a purpose or use inconsistent with and detrimental or injurious to buildings and purposes or uses upon adjoining lands and whether such proposal is such that it will detract from the character and quiet dignity of the Kingston Historic District."

She said this is subjective too.

Ms. Prescott said they have had one (1) denial in five (5) years. That application could go to the ZBA if they were unhappy with their decision. Usually, they try and consult with people with before an application is put in. If they are looking for guidance, they may give examples of other things that have been done. For example, here are other fences that are in the historic district, and this is what we would be comparing your fence to. They are an open board. If people have a problem, they should come in a talk with them if they are feeling breeched. She said the second part of it is true. In her history and time on the

board they have not required an expert testimony from the applicant, and they certainly wouldn't because it's not legal. Ms. Prescott is the Chair of the Historic District Commission. She said if anyone has questions, come to a meeting, or watch in on YouTube since they are televised as well.

550 551 552

553

554

547

548

549

Mr. Bashaw explained that none of these are his personal experience with the HDC. These are from citizens that wanted to bring this forward. Mr. Coppelman said the amount of good the well-maintained historic district brings to our Town, the community, offers a lot of positive things.

555 556 557

558

559

560

561

562 563

564

565 566

567

568

569

570

571

572

573

574

575

576

577

578 579

580

581

582

583

584 585

586

587 588

589

590 591

592

Virginia Morse came to the table and introduced herself. She is the Vice Chair of the HDC. They have reached out to real estate agents and have worked through the Selectman's office to make people aware that when they buy a property in the HD1 and HD2 that they are in the historic district. When someone finally purchases the house and the information comes in to the Select Board, the HDC sends out a welcome letter that tells them they are located HD1 or HD2 and refers them to the ordinances online if they want to look up more information. She said as Susan said, they have had only one (1) denial in the last five (5) years, and she should have counted up how many approvals because they have had many approvals. The regulations state that they have to make a decision within 72 hours (she believes) and notify the applicant in writing on whether they were approved or denied. If there's a denial, they need to send the letter by certified mail and must give the specific reason(s) for the denial. This is written in the ordinances and regulations. So the first couple of lines, they really do have to do that. As far as property values, they have written up a lot of certificates, and it has never been the reason for a denial by not doing what we said, would lower property values. In regard to experts, they do have a line item in the budget for the HDC to have experts help them. As far as she knows, we have never asked an applicant to do this. Even in a big case like the Hannaford case, there were experts, but they were on our bill. They provided their own. Often people bring their own samples. Sometimes they bring the roofing expert, or the siding expert, and give them that kind of information. As far as judgement or opinion, or not. It is subjective often, but the members have a lot of training, we go to conferences, town training, online training, NH Preservation Alliance, National Register of Historic Places, NH Division of Historical Resources, and have 15 books in the library that are available to applicants. We also give them copies of things. We give ideas on what might fit and not fit as well. There's a lot that goes in to making the decisions that are made. She believes there's a lot of compromising that goes in negotiation and understand that it is an expensive proposition to keep houses up to a standard for a good quality house, especially the requirements in the HD. They have modified some of their decisions for things like man-made siding that has become so realistic looking. She's surprised because that they have only had one (1) turned down in the last five (5) years, she is wondering why people seem upset because no one had come to them. If they are upset, they should come in anytime, you don't need to have a formal application. This way they can talk about what they want to do before investing in a plan or purchasing materials. An example is they may want to put a nice safe side porch on, however, it is visible from the road so the HDC is going to say look at your front porch and see how it will look with the side porch and steps so it blends in. They work with people to help them accomplish what they want and still fit in with the

character of the district and maintain the quality of their homes. She has hundreds of articles that talk about the value to the homeowner and to the town of keeping the economic value of the home and the quality of the home impacting the economic value of the businesses in the whole town and that individual property for its reseal value. So there are lots of reasons to keep our historic district and she really wishes people that are fearful should come in and speak to the HDC members. We are always looking for members to join the board and you don't have to live in the historic district to join.

599 600 601

602 603

604

605

606

607

608 609

610

611 612

613

614

615

616

617

618

619

620

621

622

623

624 625

626

593

594

595

596

597

598

Scott Ouellette of 189 Main Street, Kingston came to the table. Mr. Ouellette stated he does live in the HD. He'd like to echo some things that were already said. He agrees with Mr. Greenwood that the first two sentences are accusatory, almost attacking. He thinks the HD is an asset to the Town. He said it would be good to encourage the HD, expand the district, encourage historic preservation, thanking people on the board. He wanted to point out that the applications he saw have not been mean or nasty or denied, it's been more of a cooperative thing. The board works with the applicant to come up with solutions on how it fits with the Town. Just in the last couple of years he's seen them working with the Josiah Bartlett house, the most historic house in Town to add the barn. They worked on how it could blend in. They worked on Rick's commercially on how the front outdoor seating and stair changes and on how they could blend in. They worked with the new construction on the corner of Scotland Rd. and Main St. on the exterior design to help it blend in. He said the process is working. Mr. Ouellette brought up that Mr. Greenwood thought the first two sentences were accusatory, he was actually more concerned with the bottom sentences that talk about the reason for denial. That they need to be listed in detail and they can't be subjective, it can't be based on opinion or speculation. In order to deny something for a reason that might be considered opinion and speculation you would have to go higher next time which means the Town's HDC budget for experts would have to grow to hire an expert(s). This is counterproductive for the Town. This is like a stick for someone who gets denied to beat the Town down. The board letters may say, M/M applicant, prove your application meets our ordinances, but this is reversed and now the board has to prove the denial. Therefore, he is more worried about the bottom section and those unintended consequences. There are two (2) things, what problem are we trying to solve and the unattended consequences at the end. If you were on the HDC you might read some of the rules and wonder what to do, those are subjective and now they might require an expert before it is denied and get them in trouble for not denying the property.

627628629

His recommendation would be to disapprove this and use this opportunity for education to achieve the goals for the master plan and encourage to start building a relationship. Maintain the look and feel that ends up being a big asset to the Town.

631 632 633

630

Public comment ended at 8:02 PM.

634 635

636 637

638

**Board discussion**: Mr. Bakie commented that when he first read the article, that his opinion from what he read, that there were people in Town that just wanted a board. We are elected by the people to be on the boards and they expect us to do our job. From his experience he seen many times where approvals have gone forward and we as the Board

have requested the applicant to state certain colors of things on the approval. Which doesn't really have anything to do with the board. When he read this is all he saw from Town's people that things were being checked. If there's people who don't think they are being treated fairly and want things a little better explained for the reason for denial, maybe they just needed it better broken down on why they weren't accepted.

Mr. Coffin said that you did see the legislation affirming and being very specific on how to deny this.

Mr. Bakie said now that he has seen the HDC talk. He has not been to one of their meetings and heard that they have had one (1) denial in the last five (5) years, and their willingness to learn and work with the people in Town. It's different than what he has read on the article. With this said, he probably wouldn't support this.

 Mr. Bashaw said that based off the stories that he heard, he has never had personal interaction with the HDC and getting some more information from them has been helpful. Now, he has concerns about the citizen petition article as the person who submitted in on behalf of other people.

Mr. Coppelman said he has the PB rep to the HDC for several years now. That board works with the applicant to an incredible degree and as was pointed out, very often even though the HDC doesn't have to take into account the fact that not everybody has unending resources. Doing our best to keep with the rules and regulations in the district, but not make it as onerous as it could be to the applicant. Trying to keep the historic district character and to keep the integrity of it because it is a huge asset to the Town.

Mr. Ouellette asked from the audience if the application could be withdrawn. Mr. Bashaw said he doesn't believe it can be.

Motion made by Mr. Bashaw to disapprove on the Warrant ballot the proposed Petitioned Warrant Article to be added to Section 100 – Zoning Districts Article 102.9 Historic District Guidelines. Seconded by, Mr. Bakie. A vote was taken, all were in favor, the motion passed (5-0-0).

Ms. Morse asked from the audience if they will see on the vote tally on the ballot. Mr. Coppelman said that the Board will be discussing that tonight and she is welcome to stay around. Ms. Morse said she is sure the Board will do fine with it and left for the evening.

<Board note: This zoning hearing ended at 8:10 PM.>

685 686 687

#### **Board discussion:**

688 689

#### **Article 108: Commercial Zone C-1**

690 691

692

693

694 695

696

697

698

699

700 701

702

703 704

705

706

707

708

709 710 Mr. Greenwood said that Donna Carter, member of the public tonight, asked him to clarify his interpretation of the workforce housing/multi-family housing and what is allowed. His initial reaction was that he believed that you could have either multi-family or a multifamily development that had a workforce housing component within that district. However, the wording isn't very clear the way it presently reads. It shows that such multi-family developments are workforce housing developments. Mr. Coppelman said it isn't workforce housing/multi-family housing. Mr. Greenwood said that is not to his recollection of what the Board did in 2010, when this was created. Initially, he thought they could just make the change and clarify it and make the editorial and put in a comma between multifamily and workforce housing. Then he looked at the public record from 2009 for the change that happened in 2010, those indicate differently than he remembers the action. The only way you can do multi-family is in the component of workforce housing. This is counterintuitive to him and his memory. He said the only evidence he could see in the actual ordinance was in section 108.7.C. Requirements for Multi-Family Dwellings and Development. Mr. Greenwood read this section 108.7.C.6. "Workforce Housing. Not more than 50% of the dwelling units in a multi-family structure shall be workforce housing". He interpreted the 2010 minutes and in reading this section that there is a requirement for workforce housing element in any multi-family development done through this ordinance. Mr. Greenwood asked if any of the members of the Board then may have been there when this ordinance was prepared. His memory is you could do either, or. Mr. Greenwood said we need to understand what is trying to be accomplished with this.

711712713

714

Mr. Coppelman asked if this was only in C-1. Mr. Greenwood said yes. Mr. Coppelman asked if this was the only zone we talk about workforce housing. Mr. Greenwood said yes.

715 716 717

718

719

720

721

Mr. Bakie said it's confusing when you read section 6, the way it's written. It almost seems like they are trying to justify or identify workforce housing, but says "not more than 50% of the dwelling units in a multi-family structure shall be workforce housing". It seems it wants to say not less than 50%. Mr. Greenwood said it's not saying it can be more than, so you could actually have a development with just one workforce housing. If this is saying that all multi-family developments in Town have to incorporate workforce housing.

722 723 724

Ms. Duguay referred to the RSA that defined multi-family housing for the purposes of workforce housing.

725 726 727

728 729

730

Mr. Greenwood said we have to determine what this means. Mr. Bashaw commented this is a difficult one because the said that Mr. Greenwood correctly went back to the meeting minutes. Because this was voted on as ordinance and proposed as such it really depends on what the intention was put through and not our individual opinion on it now. Mr.

Greenwood responded, exactly, but the intent is important because the entire reason of doing this ordinance was because state law came into effect that every town had to provide for workforce housing. We went this route to zone an area of Town to allow for workforce housing. The question is, is all the multi-family development that is allowed in this area have to be workforce housing.

Mr. Bashaw asked, according to the meeting minutes, who were the people on the Board at that time. Mr. Coppelman referred to the minutes of January 5, 2010. Norm Hurley, Chair; Richard Wilson, Vice Chair; Glenn Coppelman; Mark Heitz, BOS Rep.; Jay Alberts; Ernie Landry; Scott Ouellette; and Rich St. Hilaire (alternate). Mr. Bashaw asked if it was appropriate to send them copies to see if they are willing to see how they recalled it. He said the meeting minutes are the actual record that have been approved.

Mr. Coppelman invited the audience to speak on this <8:10 PM>. Donna Carter of 119 Amesbury Rd., Kensington came to the table. She said that there was a new vote this March that changed some of density on this property and a couple of other things. In June, herself, the other real estate agent, Ruth Alberts, the renter and his daughters came to the BOS meeting, mainly because they needed to know the plan for the right of way for the class vi road that is there, to see if they could drive in there. She said the BOS said that they could. Ms. Carter asked for clarification on what could be built there, she said to the board, multi-family workforce housing and commercial, that these were the only two (2) things. Mr. Wilson said that they could do any kind of multi-family housing, it doesn't have to be workforce. Ms. Carter said she looked back at the BOS minutes to get this situated, because she had buyers for the property, and there wasn't anything about them having this conversation. Ms. Carter said they only went there to clarify the road, not to talk about the zoning. Mr. Wilson said that changed, the density changed, you could have four (4) bedrooms per acre, before it was four (4) units per acre, this kind of stuff changed. She was really surprised when it couldn't be changed by just putting a comma in the language because that is what they were told they could do. Now they have another buyer and need to clarify this.

 Mr. Coppelman summarized Ms. Carter's understanding, that it could be multi-family or workforce housing multi-family, or any combination thereof. Mr. Coppelman said your understanding is it could be just multi-family without a workforce component. Ms. Carter said yes and it could even be a commercial, residential mix, because there isn't anything in the ordinance stating otherwise. Mr. Coppelman said except for the section that was read already saying, "no more than 50% of the dwelling units in a multi-family structure shall be workforce". He said so if you take this literally, it could be none. Mr. Bashaw said the way the definition reads, it could be zero. Mr. Coppelman said it could be more than half of the units. Mr. Greenwood said he was looking at it as at least one of the units had to be workforce housing, but it says that it can't more than 50%. Mr. Greenwood said with that interpretation we don't need to think about this anymore. Mr. Bashaw said that may not have been the intention, but that is what the definition says.

Mr. Coffin mentioned that maybe we address this next year. Mr. Coppelman said that the way it is written, it is not trying to encourage workforce housing and we as a Board and a

Town would want to be looking at this. For now, it is the way it is written. Mr. Greenwood said that what we had to do is make a provision for workforce housing.

778779780

777

The Board made a decision on this. Mr. Coppelman restated the decision. "That in Commercial Zone C-1 you can do multi-family housing, and that no more than 50% of it can be workforce housing."

782 783

781

### **Vote Tally**

784 785

786

787

788

789 790

791

792 793

794

795 796

797

798

799

800

801

802

803

804

805

Mr. Coppelman wanted to make sure the Board was on the same page on this. He said there was recent meeting he was not at, he read the minutes and he wasn't sure if it was done by vote or consensus. Mr. Coffin said it was by vote. He said it does say in the minutes, pending BOS approval and the BOS has not approved it. The BOS discussed it, however, there has been no vote. Mr. Coppelman's understanding is the Planning Board was not authorized to do that per RSA. So, he reached out to NHMA to see if they had an opinion, and they have provided one. Copies were provided to the Board. Ms. Duguay mentioned this is not the first time this has come up and we have received different answers. Mr. Bashaw commented this is the first time we have received anything officially in writing. Mr. Coffin explained that there is legislation on this, and there is the budget law, and only gives that authority. There was a vote as a Town in 2017, to allow the voting selectmen and the budget committee to register vote tallies on the ballot. That legislation only gives that power to the Town, the legislative body to vote because the governing body supports them and the budget committee does that. It doesn't include anybody else. The only other place that the ballot procedure notes it, is in the planning section. Mr. Coppelman reached out the NHMA because the Town is a member and we have access to their legal department. We are able to ask for advice and get opinions. Mr. Coppelman referred to the email handout from the NHMA legal department dated December 29, 2022. Mr. Bashaw said he will bring this information to the BOS, and based off of the advice of the NHMA received, can vote it down and should cover the Board on the vote that was taken here.

806 807 808

Mr. Coppelman wanted the Board to have their own opinion on this on record. He is not trying to take away the authority of the BOS, but would like the PB to reflect in the minutes and the Board members present, what they would like to happen.

810 811 812

809

Mr. Coffin says it could put all of the PB articles at risk. Mr. Coppelman said that according to their reading of the statutes, the PB does not have the authority to do this.

813 814 815

816

817

Motion made by Mr. Bashaw to rescind the request that the vote tallies be included on the ballots per guidance from the NHMA legal department. Seconded, by Mr. Bakie. A vote was taken, all were in favor, the motion passed.

818 819

### **Correspondence:**

820 821

822

☐ The Board approved the invoice from GKG Planning, LLC dated January 3, 2023.

Motion made by Mr. Coffin to accept the 12/06/2022 minutes as written. Seconded
by, Ms. Duguay. A vote was taken, all were in favor, the motion passed.
<u>ADJOURNMENT</u>

Motion made by Ms. Duguay to adjourn the meeting. Meeting was adjourned at 8:35 PM.

831 832 833

830

> \*\*Next Public Hearing is scheduled for Tuesday, January 17, 2023. Subject to change.\*\*

834 835

Minutes accepted as amended on February 7, 2023:

Approval of the December 6, 2022 Minutes:

- Pg. 14, line 603 change the word "attaching" to "attacking"
- Pg. 18, line 790 change the word "His" to "Mr. Coppelman's".